
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

HOUSTON DIVISION 
 
        
        § 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE   § 
COMMISSION,     § 
       § 
  Plaintiff,    § 
       § Civil Action No. _________ 
vs.       §    
       § 
MICHAEL BIELLO     § 
       § 
  Defendant.    § 
       § 
       § 

 
COMPLAINT 

 Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”) files this Complaint against 

Defendant Michael Biello, and would respectfully show the Court as follows: 

I. Summary 

1. This matter involves insider trading in the securities of ACR Group, Inc. (“ACR 

Group”).   

2. Until its outstanding shares were purchased in 2007 by Watsco, Inc., (“Watsco”), 

ACR Group was a Houston-based company whose shares traded on the American Stock 

Exchange.  On July 5, 2007 at 8:00 a.m., it was announced that ACR Group had executed a 

definitive agreement with Watsco, a New York Stock Exchange issuer, pursuant to which 

Watsco would acquire ACR Group’s outstanding common stock in a tender offer for $6.75 cash 

per share.  ACR Group’s closing price at the end of the day on July 5 was $6.61, an increase of 

$2.01 (approximately 44%) from the prior trading day’s closing price; 2.3 million ACR Group 
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shares were traded on July 5, compared to the historical average daily volume of approximately 

36,000 shares.   

3. In June 2007, while employed by an ACR Group, Inc. affiliate, Michael Biello 

learned that Watsco, Inc. had offered to buy ACR Group.  He then tipped his brother, advising 

him to purchase ACR Group’s stock.  Without disclosing the details of the information he had 

learned, Defendant told his brother, among other things, that ACR Group was a likely merger 

candidate.  His brother promptly purchased 3,300 shares of ACR Group stock. 

 4. By reason of their activities, Defendant violated Sections 10(b) and 14(e) of the 

Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) [[15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b) and 78n(e)] and Rules 

10b-5 and 14e-3 [17 C.F.R. §  240.10b-5 and 17 C.F.R. § 240.14e-3]  thereunder.  The 

Commission, in the interest of protecting the public from any further violations of the federal 

securities laws, brings this action against Defendant seeking permanent injunctive relief, 

appropriate civil money penalties, and disgorgement of ill-gotten gains plus prejudgment 

interest.  

II.  Jurisdiction and Venue 
 

5. The Commission brings this action pursuant to the authority conferred upon it by 

Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)].  The Commission seeks the imposition 

of civil penalties pursuant to Section 21(d) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)].   

6. This Court has jurisdiction over this action under Sections 21(d), 21A and 27 of 

the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(d), 78u-1 and 78aa].   

7. Defendant, directly and indirectly, made use of the mails and of the means and 

instrumentalities of interstate commerce in connection with the acts, practices and courses of 
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business described in this Complaint.   

8. Venue is proper because certain of the transactions, acts, practices and courses of 

business described below occurred within the jurisdiction of the Southern District of Texas. 

III. Defendant 

10.   Michael Biello, age 30, resides in Katy Texas.  During the relevant period, he was 

an accountant employed by an ACR Group subsidiary.   

IV. Related Entities 
 

11. During the relevant time period, Watsco was a large distributor of air 

conditioning, heating and other HVAC-related products based in Miami, Florida.  Its securities 

are registered with the Commission pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act and its 

common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange, with the trading symbol “WSO.”   

12.    During the relevant time, ACR Group, Inc., was a publicly traded company based in 

Houston that distributed air conditioning, heating and other HVAC-related products.  Its 

securities were traded on the American Stock Exchange, under the symbol “BRR.” 

V. Statement of Facts 

13. On July 5, 2007, at 8:00 a.m., it was publicly announced that ACR Group had 

executed a definitive agreement with Watsco, pursuant to which Watsco would acquire ACR 

Group’s outstanding common stock in a tender offer for $6.75 per share in cash.  On July 5, the 

closing last sale price of ACR Group was $6.61, a roughly 44% increase from the previous day’s 

closing price.  On July 5, approximately 2.3 million ACR Group shares were traded, compared to 

ACR Group’s historical daily trading volume of approximately 36,000 shares.    

14. Michael Biello was an accountant with ACR Supply, a subsidiary of ACR Group.  



  

  

  

 Page 4   

While temporarily assigned to ACR Group’s corporate offices in April 2007, he learned that 

ACR Group was considering a possible merger with Watsco.  He learned this information from a 

friend, who was also a family member of a high-ranking ACR Group officer. 

15. In May 2007, while still on temporary assignment to ACR Group’s corporate 

offices for the purpose of assisting the preparation of ACR Group’s quarterly SEC filing, he was 

instructed to conform the format of ACR Group’s stockholder equity disclosures to match the 

manner in which Watsco made such disclosures.  Defendant understood this instruction to 

confirm that a merger was in fact going to occur in the near future.   

16. ACR Group’s employee manual specifically requires employees to “preserve as 

confidential all trade secrets, confidential information, knowledge data or other information 

relating to products, customers, financial performance or projections, or any other subject matter 

pertaining to the business of ACR.”  Likewise, ACR Group’s insider trading policy, which 

applies to all employees including Michael Biello, prohibits “pass[ing] material, non-public 

information on to others, or recommend[ing] to anyone the purchase or sales of any securities, 

when they are aware of material, non-public information.” 

17. Notwithstanding company policies against insider trading, based on the 

information he had learned, Michael Biello instructed his brother in mid-June to buy ACR Group 

stock with the intent and expectation that he would do so.  Without disclosing the details of the 

information he had learned, Defendant told his brother, among other things, that ACR Group was 

a likely merger candidate 

18. Acting on this tip, Michael Biello’s brother purchased 1,680 ACR Group shares 

for about $8,000 on June 22, 2007.  He bought an additional 1,650 shares for approximately 
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$8,000 on June 25.   

19. By the time Michael Biello’s brother purchased his shares, substantial steps had 

been taken toward the tender offer.  For example, Watsco had already engaged in extensive due 

diligence and had nearly completed negotiations on the transaction.  Michael Biello knew or had 

reason to know that the information he possessed had been acquired directly or indirectly from 

an insider or from someone working on his or her behalf.  

20. Before market open on July 5, 2007, ACR Group announced Watsco’s tender 

offer to purchase all outstanding ACR Group common stock for $6.75 per share.  ACR Group’s 

stock closed that day at $6.61 a share, roughly 44% greater than the previous day’s closing price.  

Trading volume spiked as well, to 2.3 million shares compared to the 120-day daily average of 

36,000 shares.  Biello’s brother sold his ACR Group shares on July 5, earning $6,036 profit.  

CLAIMS  
 

I. 
Violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and 

Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5] Thereunder by Defendants 
 

21. Plaintiff Commission repeats and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 

20 of this Complaint as if set forth verbatim herein. 

22.       In breach of his duty, Defendant Biello knowingly or recklessly communicated 

material, non-public information to his brother.   

 23. Through his actions as alleged above, Defendant Biello, with scienter: 

  a. employed devices, schemes, or artifices to defraud; 

b. made untrue statements of material facts or omitted to state material facts 

necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the 
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circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and 

c. engaged in acts, practices, or courses of business which operated or would 

operate as a fraud or deceit upon persons, including purchasers and sellers 

of securities;  

d. in connection with the purchase or sale of securities, by use of means or 

instrumentalities of interstate commerce, of the mails, or the facilities of a 

national securities exchange. 

24. By reason of the foregoing acts and practices, Defendant Biello violated and, unless 

enjoined, will continue to violate Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and Rule 

10b-5 thereunder [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5]. 

II. 
Violations of Section 14(e) of the Exchange Act and Rule 14e-3 Thereunder 

 by Defendants 

25. Paragraphs 1-24 are realleged and incorporated by reference. 

26. By June 25, 2007, substantial steps had been taken to commence a tender offer for 

the securities of ACR Group by Watsco.  At the time he tipped his brother, and at the time his 

borther purchased ACR Group stock on June 22 and June 25, Defendant Michael Biello was in 

possession of material information regarding the tender offer for ACR Group securities by 

Watsco, which he knew or had reason to know was nonpublic, and which each knew or had 

reason to know was acquired directly or indirectly from an officer, director, partner, or employee 

or other person acting on behalf of the offering company. 

27. By reason of the foregoing, Defendant Michael Biello violated, and unless 

enjoined, will continue to violate Section 14(e) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §78n(e)] and 
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Rule 14e-3 [17 C.F.R. §240.14e-3] thereunder. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 
 
 The Commission respectfully requests that this Court enter a judgment: 

(i) permanently enjoining Defendant Michael Biello from violating Section 10(b) 

and 14(e) of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b) and 78n(e)]  and Rules 10b-5 and 14e-3  [17 

C.F.R. §§ 240.10b-5 and 240.14e-3] thereunder; 

  (ii) ordering Defendant Michael Biello to pay civil penalties pursuant to Section 21A 

of the Exchange Act [15 U.S.C. § 78u-1] for his violations of the federal securities laws as 

alleged herein;  

(iii) ordering Defendant Michael Biello to disgorge all ill-gotten gains from the 

conduct alleged herein, with prejudgment interest; and 

(iv) granting such other relief, both in law and in equity, as this Court may deem just 

and appropriate. 

Dated this 13th day of March, 2009. 

      Respectfully submitted, 

     /s/ David B. Reece  
     DAVID B. REECE 
      Attorney-in-Charge 

     Texas Bar No. 24002810 
     S.D. Texas Bar No. 896560 
     SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE    
     COMMISSION 

     Fort Worth Regional Office 
     801 Cherry Street, 19th Floor 
     Fort Worth, Texas 76102 
     (817) 978-6476 
 (817) 978-4927 (fax) 
 reeced@sec.gov  

mailto:reeced@sec.gov
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